RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN

09-23-2013

COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

District I

Case No. 2013 AP 000453 CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

STANLEY K. BULLOCK,

Defendant-Appellant

ON APPEAL TO REVIEW THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED ON JUNE 11, 2012, THE HONORABLE REBECCA F. DALLET PRESIDING, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF APPELLANT

MARK S. ROSEN
ROSEN AND HOLZMAN
400 W. MORELAND BLVD., SUITE C
WAUKESHA, WI 53188
Attorney for Defendant-Appellant
State Bar No. 1019297

ISSUE PRESENTED

I. Whether or not the trial court erred in denying

Defendant's Motion to Suppress his statements to law enforcement officers. This, when Defendant was in a highly vulnerable position when he had provided these statements, just having suffered extensive medical injuries. Relevant and applicable case law holds that he did not possess rational intellect and free will when providing these statements.

Trial Court Answered: No.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

This Appeal involves issues of law which are not settled. Arguments need to be presented in more detail in oral argument. Therefore, oral argument and publication are requested.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In case 11 CF 594, Mr. Stanley Bullock was charged in a one Count Criminal Complaint dated February 1, 2011. The one Count charged Defendant with First Degree Intentional Homicide, contrary to Wis. Stats. 940.01(1)(a) and 939.50(3)(a). The charge alleged that Defendant killed Dedrie A. Kelly-Baldwin in the residence that they shared. When police arrived at their residence, they found the Defendant with several serious lacerations. Fire Department transported him to the hospital. Furthermore, they found the victim

deceased. According to the Complaint, she had suffered various puncture wounds that had led to her death. While at the hospital, Defendant allegedly provided a statement to the police that home invaders had committed the crimes against both him and the victim. (3:1-4).

A preliminary hearing occurred on February 9, 2011. Seven individuals testified on behalf of the State. After hearing this testimony and receiving other evidence, the Court Commissioner found probable cause and bound Defendant over for trial. The State filed a Criminal Information charging the same one charge against Defendant as indicated in the Criminal Complaint. (47:70; 4:1).

Arraignment in 11 CF 594 occurred immediately after the bindover after the preliminary hearing. At that time, Defendant entered a plea of Not Guilty to the one Count in the Information. (47:71).

On April 5, 2011, Defendant filed two Suppression Motions. First, he filed a Motion to Suppress Statements. (9:1-4). Second, he filed a Motion to Suppress or Quash Medical records of Defendant seized by the State for use at trial with attachments. (10:1-38). Only the Motion to Suppress Statements is relevant to this present Appeal. By this Motion, Defendant sought to suppress various statements to law enforcement. First, he sought to suppress a statement that he had provided to Milwaukee police officer James Phelps while an ambulance was transporting the Defendant to the

hospital on January 21, 2011. Second, while at the hospital's intensive care unit, he had provided a statement to Detective Eric Gulbrandson on that same date. (9:1-4).

The trial court conducted an evidentiary motion hearing on November 1, 2011. Two witnesses testified. First was Officer Phelps. Second was Detective Gulbrandson. Both of these statements had occurred on January 21, 2011. (55:13-51).

On November 14, 2011, Defendant filed a Brief in Support of his Motion to Suppress Statements. (25:1-12).

On November 18, 2011, the trial court issued an oral decision denying Defendant's Motion to Suppress Statements. The court orally denied the Motion to Suppress Statements with respect to both statements that had occurred on January 21, 2011. (56:2-12).

Eventually, Defendant entered a plea of guilty to an amended charge of First Degree Reckless Homicide. This occurred on April 4, 2012. (59:2-5). The trial court ordered a presentence investigation report and adjourned sentencing. (59:12).

On June 8, 2012, the trial court sentenced Defendant to twenty years of initial confinement plus ten years of extended supervision. (60:68).

This Appeal has been filed within the schedule established by the Court of Appeals.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In case 11 CF 594, Mr. Stanley Bullock was charged in a one Count Criminal Complaint dated February 1, 2011. The one Count charged Defendant with First Degree Intentional Homicide, contrary to Wis. Stats. 940.01(1)(a) and 939.50(3)(a). The charge alleged that Defendant killed Dedrie A. Kelly-Baldwin in the residence that they shared. When police arrived at their residence, they found the Defendant with several serious and extensive lacerations. The police transported him to the hospital. Furthermore, they found the victim deceased. According to the Complaint, she had suffered various puncture wounds that had led to her death. While at the hospital, Defendant allegedly provided a statement to the police that home invaders had committed the crimes against both him and the victim. (3:1-4).

A preliminary hearing occurred on February 9, 2011. Seven individuals testified on behalf of the State. After hearing this testimony and receiving other evidence, the Court Commissioner found probable cause and bound Defendant over for trial. The State filed a Criminal Information charging the same one charge against Defendant as indicated in the Criminal Complaint. (47:70; 4:1).

Arraignment in 11 CF 594 occurred immediately after the bindover after the preliminary hearing. At that time, Defendant entered a plea of Not Guilty to the one Count in the Information.

(47:71).

On April 5, 2011, Defendant filed two Suppression Motions. First, he filed a Motion to Suppress Statements. (9:1-4). Second, he filed a Motion to Suppress or Quash Medical records of Defendant seized by the State for use at trial with attachments. (10:1-38). Only the Motion to Suppress Statements is relevant to this present Appeal. By this Motion, Defendant sought to suppress various statements to various Milwaukee law enforcement officers. First, he sought to suppress a statement that he had provided to Milwaukee police officer James Phelps while in an ambulance on his way to the hospital on January 21, 2011. Second, while at the hospital's intensive care unit, he provided a statement to Detective Eric Gulbrandson on that same date. (9:1-4).

The trial court conducted an evidentiary motion hearing on November 1, 2011. Two witnesses testified for the State. First was Officer Phelps. Second was Detective Gulbrandson. Each officer interviewed the Defendant on January 21, 2011. (55:13-51).

Officer Phelps was the first officer to testify for the State on November 1, 2011. He testified that on January 21, 2011 he had responded to the location of 3929 North 28th Street in Milwaukee. At that time, he noticed the Defendant Stanley Bullock. When he first noticed the Defendant, he was on a fire department gurney being led to a med unit with injuries. He was about to be transported. Officer Phelps accompanied that transport. He spoke

with Defendant during the conveyance. Defendant made several statements to him. (55:16-17). The conveyance was heading to Froedtert Hospital. Defendant's injuries that Officer Phelps had observed were a severe laceration to the neck, his wrist, and two puncture wounds to his abdomen area. (55:19-20).

Officer Phelps also testified that he found Defendant's injuries to be extensive medical injuries. He confirmed that this was his testimony at the preliminary hearing. Furthermore, he testified that, during the conveyance to Froedtert Hospital, Defendant was somewhat disoriented. The conveyance was in an ambulance. Furthermore, none of the Defendant's statements to Officer Phelps had been recorded. (55:20-22).

The State's second witness on November 1, 2011 was Detective Eric Gulbrandson. On January 21, 2011, he was a detective with the Milwaukee Police Department homicide unit. On that date, he met and interviewed Defendant Stanley Bullock. He testified that he and his partner Rodney Young began the conversation with Defendant at 9:10 p.m. and then the recorded interview commenced at 9:13 p.m.. This interview took place at the SICU Room Number 7 of Froedtert Hospital. Defendant was in a hospital bed. Detective Gulbrandson checked with a nurse prior to the interview. The nurse told him that he was on pain medications. The interview ended at 10:43 p.m.. (55:24-26). The police Mirandized the Defendant. (55:27-28). The Detective testified that it was not the normal course of his

business for him to conduct an interview in a hospital setting. (55:29). The Defendant had told the Detective that he was in pain. (55:31).

Prior to the recording of the interview, there was about a three minute conversation between the Detectives and the Defendant. (55:42). When the Detective first spoke with the Defendant, it appeared to the Detective that Defendant was injured. The Detective testified that he never spoke with a doctor prior to conducting the interview. He also did not review any medical records prior to conducting the interview. At the start of the interview with the Defendant, Defendant was moaning. The witness testified that, if moaning was on the recording, then Defendant was moaning. Also, either his wrist or his ankle was handcuffed to the bed. Defendant had been restrained during the interview. Prior to the recording witness had never ascertained the Defendant's began, the educational level or his ability to understand the English language. Prior to the interview commencing, Defendant could not even tell the Detective what day it was. This was a private room set up in the Surgical Intensive Care Unit of the hospital. (55:43-45).

On November 14, 2011, Defendant filed a Brief in Support of his Motion to Suppress Statements. (25:1-12).

On November 18, 2011, the trial court issued an oral decision denying Defendant's Motion to Suppress Statements. The court orally

denied the Motion to Suppress Statements with respect to both statements that had occurred on January 21, 2011. (56:2-12).

On November 18, 2011, the trial court had indicated that it had listened to the audio cd of Detective Gulbrandson's interview with the Defendant. It concluded that Defendant was in some pain during the interview. It also heard suctioning sounds, such as mucus or saliva being suctioned out. As the interview proceeded, Defendant became more animated. (56:8). However, Defendant never advised the Detectives that he was not in pain.

On November 18, 2011, the trial court also noted that it had heard some moaning at the beginning of the interview. (56:9). The trial court also agreed that Defendant's injuries were terrible. (56:11).

Once again, despite the trial court finding that Defendant was in pain during Detective Gulbrandson's interview, with audible moaning and terrible injuries and being on pain medication, the trial court denied Defendant's Suppression motion with respect to that statement. Furthermore, the trial court denied Defendant's Suppression motion with respect to the statement that he had provided to Officer Phelps. This, even though the Defendant was somewhat disoriented during the interview, suffering from extensive medical injuries, during an ambulance transport to the hospital.

Eventually, Defendant entered a plea of guilty to an amended charge of First Degree Reckless Homicide. This occurred on April 4,

2012. (59:2-5). The trial court ordered a presentence investigation report and adjourned sentencing. (59:12).

On June 8, 2012, the trial court sentenced Defendant to twenty years of initial confinement plus ten years of extended supervision. (60:68).

This Appeal has been filed within the schedule established by the Court of Appeals.

ARGUMENT

- I. DEFENDANT'S STATEMENTS TO BOTH TESTIFYING OFFICERS WERE NOT VOLUNTARY. HIS WILL HAD BEEN OVERBORNE BY HIS INJURIES. FURTHERMORE, THE FACT THAT DETECTIVE GULBRANDSON DID NOT RECORD THE INITIAL THREE MINUTES OF HIS INTERVIEW SHOULD BE HELD AGAINST THE POLICE.
- A. <u>Defendant's Condition when he gave the Statements to the Various Police Officers was highly Vulnerable. The Officers improperly took advantage of this condition. Defendant's Statements Were not the product of a Rational Intellect and Free Will.</u>

A confession is involuntarily made if it is procured by coercive means. State vs. Clappes, 136 Wis.2d 222, 401 N.W.2d 759 (1987). A trial court's findings of evidentiary or historical facts will not be overturned unless they are contrary to the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence. This is the clearly erroneous test, under Wis. Stats. 805.17(2). However, whether any constitutional principles have been offended involves an

independent review by an appellate court. State vs. Michels, 141 Wis.2d 81, 414 N.W.2d 311 (Ct.App. 1987). The appellate court independently applies constitutional principles to the facts as found to determine whether the standard of voluntariness has been met. State vs. Xiong, 178 Wis.2d 525, 504 N.W.2d 428 (Ct.App. 1993).

The admission of involuntary statements violates a Defendant's due process right under both the U.S. and Wisconsin Constitutions. A Defendant's statements are voluntary if they are the product of a free and unconstrained will, reflecting deliberateness of choice. Coercive or improper police conduct is a necessary prerequisite for a finding of involuntariness. State vs. Hoppe, 261 Wis.2d 294, 661 N.W.2d 401 (2003). Any statement to law enforcement must be the product of a rational intellect and free will. Mincey vs. Arizona, 437 U.S. 385, 98 S.Ct. 2408, 57 L.Ed.2d 290 (1978), citing Townsend vs. Sain, 372 U.S. 293 (1963).

The United States Supreme Court has ruled that statements, under circumstances similar to those present here, are inadmissible as being involuntary. In <u>Mincey vs. Arizona</u>, the Defendant had been transported to the hospital after having been shot. He was examined and treated. He had sustained a wound in his hip, resulting in damage to the sciatic nerve and partial paralysis of the right leg. He had received various drugs and had been transported to the intensive care unit. <u>Mincey vs. Arizona</u>, 437 U.S. 385 at 396.

In <u>Mincey</u>, at about 8:00 p.m., Detective Hust came to the intensive care unit to interview Mincey. Hust gave him his <u>Miranda</u> warnings. Mincey responded to Hust's questions by writing answers on a piece of paper. Hust began to ask him questions about what had happened earlier that night. Id. at 396.

The U.S. Supreme Court found that it was hard to imagine a situation less conducive to the exercise of a rational intellect and free will than in Mincey. Mincey had been seriously wounded just a few hours earlier, and had arrived at the hospital depressed. Although he had received some treatment, his condition at the time of Hust's interrogation was sufficiently serious that he was in the intensive care unit. He complained about his pain. Finally, while Mincey was being questioned, he was lying on his back in a hospital bed at the intensive care unit. He was, in short, at the complete mercy of Detective Hust, unable to escape or resist the thrust of Hust's interrogation. The Court referred to Mincey's condition as being debilitated and helpless. Id. at 398-399. The Court found that Mincey was weakened by pain and shock, isolated from friends, family, and legal counsel, and barely conscious. His will was simply overborne. The Court concluded that due process of law required that any statements obtained as these had been obtained could not be used in any way against the Defendant at his trial. Id. at 401-402.

Here, Defendant's situation is identical to that of Mincey's.

With respect to his injuries, Officer Phelps referred to them as extensive. He spoke with the Defendant while Defendant was being transported by ambulance to the hospital. Furthermore, Officer Phelps testified that Defendant was disoriented. This is not rational intellect. There was no indication that Mincey had received any medications to ease his pain from his extensive medical injuries and numerous lacerations and wounds. Clearly, Defendant was as "debilated and helpless" during this time as Mincey. Hence, he was at the complete mercy of Officer Phelps. Nevertheless, Phelps continued to question the Defendant, even while knowing of Defendant's highly vulnerable and helpless state. Accordingly, contrary to the trial court, Defendant's statements to Phelps were not the product of a rational intellect and free will. His will had been overborne by Phelps' conduct. The trial court erred in denying Defendant's Motion to Suppress these statements. This Decision must be reversed.

Similarly, the trial court's Decision denying Defendant's Suppression Motion with respect to the interrogation by Detectives Gulbrandson and Young must also be reversed. Unlike the situation in Mincey, two Detectives interrogated the Defendant in the closed confines of a private hospital room. In Mincey, only one detective had conducted the interview. This heightens the coercive nature of the interview. The remainder of the interrogation is materially similar to that in Mincey. Defendant was in an intensive care unit

of a hospital, just having suffered major injuries. The Court found that he was in pain at the time of the interview, making moaning noises. The hospital was providing him with medical treatment, by sucking out mucus and saliva. He was in a hospital bed. Even though he answered questions, he had complained to Detective Gulbrandson that he was in pain. Although the Detectives might have testified that he was coherent, there is no indication that his statement was the product of a rational intellect. To the contrary, Defendant could not even tell the Detectives what the day was. Hence, any indication by Defendant that he was "fine," or conclusion that he was coherent, must be tempered by the understanding that such a finding was made while Defendant was in the intensive care unit of a hospital, while under medications. Gulbrandson's conclusion that Defendant was coherent is contrary to the facts and erroneous.

Clearly, this present situation is identical to that in Mincey. The Detectives would not leave until after they had obtained their statement. Hence, they overbore his free will by their improper conduct for an entire hour and half. During this time, Defendant was being treated for extensive medical injuries, while in the intensive care unit of the hospital, under medications, while suffering pain, and receiving medical treatment during the interrogation. The Detectives took improper advantage of this situation.

Furthermore, there was no indication by the Detectives as to

why they could not wait until after Defendant had sufficiently recovered so he could be out of the intensive care unit. The Detectives interviewed him the very same day that he had been taken to this unit. Clearly, the Detectives sought to take advantage of Defendant's highly vulnerable condition. This is improper and coercive procedure.

For the aforementioned reasons, like <u>Mincey</u>, this Court must overturn the trial court's Decision. This Court must order suppression of Defendant's statement to Detectives Gulbrandson and Young.

B. The Fact that Detectives Gulbrandson and Young Chose not to Record the First Three Minutes of their Interview with the Defendant Must Be Held Against The Credibility of Detective Gulbrandson.

If an audio or visual recording of a Defendant's custodial interrogation is not available for a jury during a trial, and that statement has been introduced into evidence, then the court shall instruct the jury that it is the policy of this state to make and audio or audio and visual recording of a custodial interrogation of a person suspected of committing a felony and that the jury may consider the absence of such an audio or audio and visual recording of the interrogation in evaluating the evidence relating to the interrogation and the statement in this case. This instruction shall occur upon request by the Defendant. Wis. Stats.

972.115(2)(a).

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