# RECEIVED

11-05-2013

STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS COURT OF APPEALS

### DISTRICT I

Case No. 2013AP453-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

STANLEY K. BULLOCK,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING A MOTION TO SUPPRESS, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE REBECCA F. DALLET PRESIDING

#### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

GABE JOHNSON-KARP Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1084731

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

### ARGUMENT

- I. BULLOCK'S STATEMENTS TO **OFFICER** PHELPS AND DETECTIVE **GULBRANDSON** WERE VOLUNTARY; NOTWITHSTANDING BULLOCK'S INJURIES, THERE IS NO INDICATION THAT THE **OFFICERS** USED ANY COERCIVE OR **IMPROPER** TACTICS.
  - A. Governing legal principles.
    - 1. Standard of review.

At a suppression hearing where the voluntariness of a confession is challenged, the

State bears the burden of showing that the confession was voluntary, by a preponderance of the evidence. State v. Hoppe, 2003 WI 43, ¶ 40, 261 Wis. 2d 294, 661 N.W.2d 407. On appellate review, whether a statement was voluntary turns on the application of constitutional principles to historical facts. Hoppe, 261 Wis. 2d 294, ¶ 34. This court defers to the trial court's findings of fact, and will overturn those findings only if clearly erroneous; however, the application of constitutional principles to the facts of record is subject to de novo review. See State v. Casarez, 2008 WI App 166, ¶ 9, 314 Wis. 2d 661, 762 N.W.2d 385.

2. Procedure for appeals from denials of motions to suppress, under Wis. Stat. § 971.31(10).

Generally, when a criminal defendant enters a guilty plea, the plea "constitutes a waiver of nonjurisdictional defects and defenses, including claimed violations of constitutional rights." Racine Cnty. v. Smith, 122 Wis. 2d 431, 434, 362 N.W.2d 439 (Ct. App. 1984). A narrow exception to this rule is found in Wis. Stat. § 971.31(10), which provides that a defendant may seek review of denial of а а motion to suppress, notwithstanding having entered a guilty or nocontest plea. See Smith, 122 Wis. 2d at 434-35. If a defendant prevails on appeal of a denial of a suppression motion, the result is a reversal of his conviction; the defendant will then be given an opportunity to withdraw his plea, and either try to plead again or proceed to trial. State v. Jiles, 2003 WI 66, ¶ 49, 262 Wis. 2d 457, 663 N.W.2d 798.

3. Legal principles governing voluntariness of statements to law enforcement.

Under both the Fourteenth Amendment's Due Process Clause and the Fifth Amendment's right against self-incrimination, a defendant's statement to law enforcement must have been voluntary to be admitted into evidence.<sup>7</sup> See State v. Ward, 2009 WI 60, ¶ 18, 318 Wis. 2d 301, 767 N.W.2d 236. A defendant's statement is voluntary if it is "the product of a free and unconstrained will, reflecting deliberateness of choice, as opposed to the result of a conspicuously unequal confrontation in which the pressures brought to bear on the defendant by representatives of the State exceeded the defendant's ability to resist." Hoppe, 261 Wis. 2d 294, ¶ 36; see also State v. Clappes, 136 Wis. 2d 222, 235-36, 401 N.W.2d 759 (1987). A necessary corollary to this precept is that there must be some coercive or improper law enforcement conduct to support a finding that a statement was involuntary. See Colorado v. Connelly, 479 U.S. 157, 167 (1986).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>On appeal, Bullock does not argue that his statements were obtained in violation of *Miranda*, i.e., that he was in custody, subject to interrogation, and did not receive the proper warnings. Accordingly, Bullock has forfeited any *Miranda*-based argument. Bullock's sole argument before this court is that because he was injured, his will was overborne by discussions with law enforcement officers, and therefore his statements were not voluntary. As discussed, *infra*, because some misconduct is necessary to support a finding that a statement was involuntary, and because the circuit court found that the officers did not engage in any coercive or improper conduct, Bullock's motion to suppress his statements was properly denied.

The voluntariness of a statement is determined by examining the totality of the circumstances surrounding the statement. balancing "the personal characteristics of the defendant against the pressures imposed upon the defendant by law enforcement officers." Hoppe, 261 Wis. 2d 294, ¶ 38. Relevant characteristics of the defendant include his "age, education and intelligence, physical and emotional condition, and prior experience with law enforcement." Id. ¶ 39. Factors relevant to determining law enforcement pressures include

> the length of the questioning, any delay in arraignment, the general conditions under which the statements took place, any excessive physical or psychological pressure brought to bear on the defendant, any inducements, threats, methods or strategies used by the police to compel a response, and whether the defendant was informed of the right to counsel and right against selfincrimination.

### Id.

While extreme physical pain or debilitation may make a defendant more susceptible to coercion, see Mincey v. Arizona, 437 U.S. 385, 398-402 (1978), such a characteristic must be balanced against demonstrated improper conduct by law enforcement. See Clappes, 136 Wis. 2d 241-42. There is no rule that statements made after suffering significant injury or during medical treatment are per se involuntary as resulting from coercion by law enforcement. See id. at 242-44. Indeed, without a showing of coercive or improper law enforcement conduct, statements made while injured, in pain, or hospitalized are voluntary, and therefore admissible. See id. B. Because the officers did not engage in any coercive or improper tactics, Bullock's statements were voluntary.

The thrust of Bullock's argument in support of suppressing his statements is that, because he was injured, law enforcement officers should not have been speaking or listening to him (Bullock's brief at 11-15). But "[t]o accept that proposition would be equivalent to a holding that a wound. such as defendant suffered, per se renders the victim incapable of exercising reason. This hypothesis is contrary to common sense and unsupported by cases or other authorities known to us." Clappes, 136 Wis. 2d at 242-43 (internal quotation and alteration omitted). Thus, the rule that Bullock now urges upon the court has been soundly rejected in the past. Because he presents no argument in support of such a per se rule of involuntariness based on injury, and because he has failed to point to any misconduct or coercion by the officers, this court should affirm the circuit court's denial of Bullock's motion to suppress.

As noted above, a voluntariness inquiry typically involves a balancing of the defendant's characteristics against the pressures imposed by law enforcement. But in Bullock's case, the circuit court found no coercive or improper law enforcement conduct against which to balance Bullock's personal characteristics. Nonetheless, the State sets forth the relevant considerations to illustrate the propriety of the circuit court's decision.

### Bullock's personal characteristics

Age: At the time of the offense Bullock was forty-five years old. Age is generally more important when the defendant is a minor. See In re Jerrell C.J., 2005 WI 105, ¶¶ 25-26, 283 Wis. 2d 145, 699 N.W.2d 110; see also Haley v. Ohio, 332 U.S. 596, 599-600 (1948).

**Education and intelligence:** Bullock completed eleven years of schooling, and held a GED (29:1). There is no suggestion in the record that Bullock possesses anything less than average intelligence.

Physical and emotional condition: At the time of Bullock's statements to Officer Phelps, Bullock had received initial. on-the-scene treatment of multiple lacerations and a puncture wound, and was being transported to Froedtert Hospital for further treatment (3:1-3). All parties wounds significant. agree that his were Additionally, Officer Phelps testified that Bullock was "somewhat disoriented" during the initial transport (55:21).

Prior experiences with law enforcement: The record shows that Bullock was initially arrested at Froedtert Hospital for an outstanding warrant in an unrelated retail theft case (55:34; 56:7). Additionally, a search of the Wisconsin Circuit Court Access database shows records for Stanley K. Bullock, with the same case, for this address as in charges of misdemeanor Possession of Cocaine, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 961.41(3g)(c) (see also 12:39); Operating After Revocation (5th), contrary to Wis. Stat. § 343.44(1); as well as at least one other noncriminal offense. See Sisson v. Hansen Storage Co., 2008 WI App 111, ¶ 11, 313 Wis. 2d 411, 756

N.W.2d 667 (court may take judicial notice of matters of government record). Bullock's familiarity with the criminal justice system makes him less vulnerable to any asserted police pressures. *See State v. Lemoine*, 2013 WI 5, ¶¶ 22-23, 345 Wis. 2d 171, 827 N.W.2d 589.

### Law enforcement pressures

**Length of questioning:** There is no reference in the record to precisely how long Bullock spoke with Officer Phelps, but the circuit court did note that the conversation was "very short" (56:5). Bullock's interview with Detectives Young and Gulbrandson lasted approximately an hour and a half (55:26-27).

**Delay in arraignment:** Nothing in the record suggests any delay.

General condition under which statements took place: Bullock's statements to Officer Phelps occurred as Bullock was being loaded into the fire department transport vehicle. and during transport to Froedtert (55:16-17). Bullock's statements to the detectives occurred in a hospital room, where he was handcuffed to the bed, with a police guard stationed outside. Although the arrest and restraint demonstrates some exercise of control by law enforcement, there is no suggestion that these measures were improper under the circumstances, or that they were used for the purpose of coercing Bullock. Additionally, neither of the locations at issue have the overbearing, coercive potential of an isolated interrogation room in a police station. See State v. Clappes, 117 Wis. 2d 277, 286-87, 344 N.W.2d 141 (1984). In fact, the interview in Bullock's room was interrupted at least once by medical staff freely entering and exiting the room (55:27).

**Excessive physical or psychological pressure brought to bear on the defendant:** Notwithstanding Bullock's implicit assertion that merely talking with him exerted undue pressure, there is nothing in the record showing that the officers actually engaged in any such tactics. Rather, the circuit court explicitly found that the detectives did not use any improper tactics, and that the detectives made a recognizable effort to ensure that Bullock was not in too much pain (56:8-9).

Inducements, threats, methods, or strategies used by the police to compel a response: The circuit court found that none of the officers engaged in any such improper methods.

Whether the defendant was informed of his right to counsel and the right against self-incrimination: The circuit court found that the interaction between Bullock and Officer Phelps was so informal as not to require any such warnings (56:4-7). Detectives Young and Gulbrandson provided *Miranda* warnings prior to interviewing Bullock in his hospital room (56:7-8).

The totality of the circumstances shows that the officers did not engage in any coercive or improper tactics, and that any statements Bullock made to law enforcement were therefore the products of a "free and unconstrained will." While the State acknowledges that Bullock suffered significant injuries and was somewhat disoriented when he initially spoke with Officer Phelps, with absolutely no indication that the officers somehow coerced Bullock—other than merely speaking with him while he was in pain—there is no basis for a finding that his statements were involuntary. *See Connelly*, 479 U.S. at 165-66 (rejecting rule that would expand voluntariness inquiry "into a farranging requirement that courts must divine a defendant's motivation for speaking or acting as he did even though there be no claim that governmental conduct coerced his decision").

Bullock relies almost exclusively on *Mincey v. Arizona*, 437 U.S. 385, to support his argument that his injuries, accompanied by interactions with law enforcement, give rise to a finding of involuntariness. Bullock, however, overemphasizes the import of his injuries under *Mincey*, and completely ignores the more egregious aggravating factors in that case.

For example, Mincey told investigators at *least four times* that he did not want to speak without having a lawyer present. Mincev, 437 U.S. at 400 nn.16, 17. Notwithstanding his protestations, a nurse present in Mincey's room during the interrogation urged Mincey that "it would be best" if he would answer the officer's questions. Id. at 399. And although Mincey told the officer multiple times that he was confused and unable to think clearly, the officer pressed Mincey to continue. *Id.* at 400. No such misconduct occurred in this case (see, e.g., 56:4-9).

Moreover, Mincey's injuries were far more extensive than Bullock's: Mincey was partially paralyzed, and required a breathing tube, a tube through his nose to control vomiting, a catheter, and a tube in his arm for intravenous feeding. See *id.* at 399 n.14. A nurse described Mincey's status as "critical," and the record illustrated multiple instances of Mincey being in severe pain, disoriented, and at times incoherent. *Mincey*, 437 U.S. at 396-402. Conversely, in Bullock's case, while there is no question Bullock suffered significant injuries, he did receive prompt medical care (when he finally called 911) (*see* 56:11), and just the next day doctors noted his progress in recovery, encouraging regular diet and out-of-bed movement (12:19). Whereas Mincey's injuries kept him in the hospital for a month, Bullock was released from the hospital in little over a week (60:54).

But even acknowledging the significance of his injuries and the seriousness of a week-plus stay in the hospital, the circuit court found that the officers in Bullock's case simply did not engage in any coercive or improper techniques (47; 55; 56:4-11). First, with regard to his statements to Officer Phelps,<sup>8</sup> Bullock was neither under arrest nor a suspect, and was instead under the care of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Notably, much of the information that Bullock relayed to Officer Phelps (including the masked attacker story) was also relayed to firefighters responding to Bullock's injuries (3:2). Bullock does not assert that the firefighters' accounts, which were included in the criminal complaint, should have been suppressed. Although the State has not located any precedential Wisconsin cases that have decided the issue of voluntary statements to medical first-responders, other jurisdictions have recognized that such statements are not statements to "law enforcement" for purposes of the voluntariness inquiry. See, e.g., People v. Williams, 692 N.E.2d 1109, 1117-18 (1998). Although the court need not reach this particular issue, the additional, non-law-enforcement sources for Bullock's statements could provide support for the conclusion that, if the circuit court erred in denying Bullock's motion to suppress, such error was harmless because there were other, comparable sources for identical information. See State v. Armstrong, 223 Wis. 2d 331, 588 N.W.2d 606, as modified on denial of reconsideration, 225 Wis. 2d 121, 121-22, 591 N.W.2d 604 (1999) (recognizing possibility that harmless error analysis may be applied in appeals from denials of suppression motions under Wis. Stat. § 971.31(10)); see also State v. Harvey, 2002 WI 93, ¶ 47 n.12, 254 Wis. 2d 442, 647 N.W.2d 189 ("The harmless error rule . . . is an injunction on the courts, which, if applicable, the courts are required to address regardless of whether the parties do.").

the Milwaukee Fire Department (55:16-21). Phelps exerted no control over Bullock and was "just along for the ride." The circuit court thus properly found that "there was nothing caused by [Officer Phelps] to put [Bullock] under any kind of duress or to take advantage of him," and there was no indication that the officer was "attempting to use his status to elicit information" (56:5).

With regard to Bullock's statements to Detectives Young and Gulbrandson, the court relied on Detective Gulbrandson's account and the recording of the ninety-minute interview to find that there was no indication throughout the interrogation that Bullock's statements were in any way coerced (56:5-11). The court found that Bullock had willingly agreed to speak with the detectives, that there was no point during the interview when Bullock was in debilitating pain. and that Bullock fully understood what was happening (56:6-9). Moreover, the court found that the detectives did not make any threats, raise their voices, or in any way coerce Bullock into either continuing the interview or answering certain questions (56:9-11).

The record is therefore devoid of any indication that the officers used any coercive or improper measures when speaking with Bullock. Accordingly, the circuit court properly denied his motion to suppress, and this court should affirm that decision.

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